

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2015

Care Transition Gaps: Risk Identification and Intervention

Michael Howard Jongsma Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Nursing Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Health Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Michael Jongsma

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Allison Terry, Committee Chairperson, Health Services Faculty
Dr. Virginia Seno, Committee Member, Health Services Faculty
Dr. Dana Leach, University Reviewer, Health Services Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2015

Abstract

Care Transition Gaps: Risk Identification and Intervention

by

Michael Jongsma

Submitted in Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Nursing Practice

Walden University

May 2015

Abstract

Hospital readmissions related to chronic heart failure (CHF) are costly, widespread, and often avoidable. Patient education that includes diagnosis, causes, medications, diet, exercise, and exacerbation warning signs has been shown to reduce the number of CHF readmissions. The purpose of this study was to use risk stratification to identify CHF patients at high risk for 30-day readmission. Once a high-risk CHF patient was identified, nursing interventions would be triggered to reduce readmissions and close the gaps in the continuum of care following acute care admission. Transitions of care theory was used as the framework for this project. The methodology had a quality improvement focus. The patient population consisted of high-risk CHF patients (n = 25) with NYHA classification of II-IV using the risk identification tool. Patients were identified using the tool, were followed for 30 days, and received nursing interventions to reduce the possibility of readmission. Only one of the identified patients was readmitted within 30 days for a diagnosis unrelated to CHF, resulting in no readmissions within this sub group. This study suggests that risk stratification can identify and direct resources to CHF patients, decreasing their likelihood for readmission. Nurse leaders can use standardized tools such as the risk identification tool, thereby reducing readmissions along with associated costs for readmissions.

Care Transition Gaps: Risk Identification and Intervention

by

Michael Jongsma

Submitted in Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Nursing Practice

Walden University

May 2015

Acknowledgements

A special thank you to my project committee as I appreciate your time and expertise on my behalf. I would like to thank the many friends, family and professional colleagues who have supported and given me great strength along this journey.

Specifically I would like to recognize my nursing leadership mentors: Kim Collinelli RN, Nancy Tsuyuki RN, Mary Lou Cohen RN, Peggy Crabtree RN, Valarie Fleming RN, and Mary Kingston RN. The greatest appreciation goes to Nurse Erin, my wife and my closest friend.

Table of Contents

Section 1: Care Transition Gaps: Risk Identification and Intervention	1
Overview	1
Problem Statement	4
Purpose Statement and Project Objectives	5
Significance to Practice	6
Project Question	8
Evidence-Based Significance of the Project.	8
Implications for Social Change	10
Summary	11
Section 2: Review of Scholarly Evidence	12
General Literature	13
Conceptual Models and Theoretical Frameworks	18
Section 3: Methodology	22
Project Design and Methods	22
Population and Sampling	26
Intervention	27
Project Evaluation	30
Summary	34
Section 4: Discussion and Implications	36
Evaluation of Findings	36
Discussion of Findings	37

Implications	37
Project Strengths and Limitations	39
Analysis of Self	40
Leadership	41
Advanced Nursing Practice	42
Improving Health Outcomes	43
Informing Health Care Policy	44
Summary	44
Section 5: Scholarly Project	45
References	47
Appendix A: Risk for Readmission Assessment and Intervention Checklist	58

Section 1: Care Transition Gaps: Risk Identification and Intervention Overview

Hospital readmissions are costly, widespread, and often can be avoided. Researchers have estimated that 20% of Medicare patients who are discharged from acute care hospitals are readmitted within 30 days of discharge, and 34% within 90 days (Jencks, Williams & Coleman, 2009). Researchers have further estimated that more than 1 in 3 adults live with cardiovascular disease (Healthy People 2020, 2013). This is significant as the 30-day readmission rate for Chronic Heart Failure (CHF) nationally is 25% and in some institutions, greater (Dharmarajan et al., 2013). The economics of health care, combined with rising costs, are making operational changes necessary for financial stability of organizations.

Hospitals can focus interventions and improvements for avoidable readmissions. Data regarding 30-day readmissions is collected and analyzed in acute care facilities as reimbursement and penalties are incurred for avoidable readmissions. Snyderman, Salzman, Mills, Hersh, and Parks (2014) explained that patients who are 65 years or older consistently have the highest rate of hospital readmissions. Thus, nursing professionals acknowledge the importance of assessing the interaction between psychosocial factors in CHF readmissions. Nurses continue to evaluate the relationship between psychosocial and emotional variables because quality of life and life expectancy can be improved for those with heart failure through early diagnosis and consistent treatment.

Congestive heart failure is a chronic, progressive, degenerative disease of a weakened heart muscle that is also often accompanied by other disease pathways.

Cardiac health issues such as myocardial infarction, heart murmurs, hypertension, diabetes, cardiomegaly, sedentary lifestyle, and poor diet increase the risk of developing CHF. Patient education and understanding is therefore imperative and should include diagnosis, causes, medications, diet, exercise, and exacerbation warning signs in order to reduce the impact the disease has on a patient's life.

Advance Practice Nurses (APNs) can also help by developing and translating strategies to lower the rate of avoidable readmissions. Hospitals are faced with closure of programs, such as cardiac rehabilitation in order to lower costs. However, this is a critical program aimed at educating and enabling patients to heal while sustaining their health. The shift in emphasis from control of illness to maintenance of wellness means that other solutions must be provided if hospitals close valuable programs such as cardiac rehabilitation.

Collecting data on certain high-risk patients in populations such as CHF, is a proactive step in determining readmission reasons and targeting reduction interventions. Researchers have estimated that 5.8 million adults are living with heart failure in the United States, and they expect this number to grow by 25% by 2030 (Dunlay, Pereira, & Kushwaha, 2014). An effective, multidisciplinary, and accessible program could address lifestyle and dietary changes, exercise, and medication management. Additionally, this type of program could impact costly hospital readmissions (Hunt et al, 2009) and quality of life for patients, families, and the community at large.

The majority of CHF patients have comorbidities that exacerbate their underlying disease. Congestive heart failure and associated comorbidities account for more than

30% of hospital admissions. Nationally, 1 in 4 heart failure patients will be readmitted to the hospital following discharge, or seek emergency services within one year of discharge (Dunlay, Pereira, & Kushwaha, 2014). Multiple diseases combined with comorbidities have led the Heart Failure Society of America to recommend assessment of CHF patient's psychological and cognitive status to determine readiness to participate in their care.

The main focus of this research is to use the risk stratification tool (Appendix A) and associated interventions at Providence Little Company of Mary Medical Center Torrance (PLCMMCT) for patients admitted with CHF. The tool would be used by Registered Nurses (RNs) to recognize patient risk for readmission and institute specific interventions that would decrease readmissions within the first 30 days after discharge. Currently, PLCMMCT experiences a 21% annual readmission rate for heart failure patients.

The outcomes and measurements in CHF are multivariable. A nurse's ability to provide interventions that enable patients to adhere and comply with educational goals is an integral component in reducing 30-day readmissions. Adherence to new diet regimens as evidenced by a diet diary over a 3-month period is one example of a change that can decrease exacerbation of heart failure (Akosah & Carothers, 2004). Additionally, follow-up appointments need to be kept and patients must be able to understand and repeat back what is learned about the disease processes such as cause, treatment, and when to seek assistance. Cessation of smoking, minimal intake of alcohol, and maintenance of normal

blood pressure are other goals that should be undertaken to reduce incidence of exacerbation that lead to readmission.

Problem Statement

This project addresses the increased frequency of readmission of adults with exacerbation of existing CHF at PLCMMCT, as evidenced by the increased number of patients readmitted with CHF or a CHF-related diagnosis within 30 days of discharge. Adherence to medication and lifestyle changes is critical to successfully managing CHF, reducing hospital admissions, and increasing survival rates. The Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (2012) has shown that patients are more likely to adhere to a once-a-day medication regimen. This is an opportunity to create chronic disease programs that take into consideration the individual needs of the patient linking the various aspects of their care.

A continuum of care facilitates patient flow across all potential care areas. The gap addressed is between acute hospital care and wellness. Gaps in the continuum of care create greater situational, psychological, cognitive, and physical issues that have a negative effect on the self-management abilities of patients. This only intensifies issues in the CHF patient population related to medication regimens and follow-up with providers, thereby increasing exacerbation leading to increased readmission to the acute setting (Stauffer et al., 2011). The opportunity exists to integrate a risk stratification tool and nursing interventions that ensure continuity during transitions from the inpatient setting. Understanding the risk of patients with CHF patients better enables resources to

be more aligned enabling specific nursing interventions and reducing readmissions (Snyderman et al, 2014).

Purpose Statement and Project Objectives

Nearly every health system claims to offer a continuum of care on their individual website. The continuum of care concept involves an integrated system of care that guides and tracks a patient over time through a comprehensive array of health services spanning all levels of care. Health care systems often fail to provide high quality care across that continuum. Readmissions reveal a lack of coordination between the many services offered. For example, a CHF patient may benefit by a referral to home care, but if that referral is never made the patient may lack the support they need at home. A patient traveling through the most sophisticated health care system may cycle through the journey over and over again.

The purpose of this project is to use risk stratification to trigger nursing interventions based on various risk levels that will be tested at PLCMMCT. The tool will be used to identify CHF patients who are high risk for readmission within 30 days of discharge from acute care. Specific nursing interventions, identified by the tool, and follow up on discharged will be integrated in order to achieve reduction in readmissions, working to close the gaps that exist in the continuum of care following an acute care admission.

Researchers have predicted that the elderly population 65 and greater will almost double from the year 2005 to 2030 (Retooling for an Aging America, Institute of Medicine [IOM], 2008). Focusing interventions on increasing self-care in this population

will fill gaps in the continuum of care. Risk stratification has proved useful in identifying patients in need of further intervention (Kansagara, et al, 2011). The reasons for readmission can be further understood by examining the CHF patients' experiences related to self-care and transitions in and out of the hospital.

Significance to Practice

Nurses have a responsibility to ensure there is an emphasis placed on quality in the healthcare environment. According to Hood (2006) a professional nurse must change adapt to multiple career stages. Nurses have a vital role in the revamping and transforming health care in the United States. Increasingly, the outcome data are of the utmost importance, but the profession has struggled with data collection. The Affordable Care Act has placed greater emphasis on data collection and submission. The electronic atmosphere has improved tracking of quality initiatives, but the legitimacy of the information may be challenged; data can be collected incorrectly thus leading to inaccurate conclusions. Electronic data can be helpful in understanding issues related to all readmissions.

Unplanned CHF readmissions represent an increasingly large problem nationally in healthcare (Snyderman et al, 2014). Thirty-day readmission rates are a crucial measure for hospitals due to penalties imposed by the Centers of Medicare and Medicaid Services. Nurses play a unique role in bringing changes in transitions of care directly to the patient (Lewis, 2012). Beyond providing the acute care needed once a patient is admitted, the nurse also provides the connection to the resources that enable a patient to remain stable following discharge (Case, Haynes, Holaday, & Parker, 2010).

The RN can provide follow-up for the CHF patient built on the four pillars of the Coleman model of transitions. The areas of emphasis, or pillars, are: (a) medication self-management, (b) patient centered medical record, (c) follow-up with physicians, and (d) patient acknowledgment of red flags or signs of exacerbation. The care transitions model has been successfully used to educate CHF patients at risk of readmission (Coleman, Parry, Chalmers, & Min, 2006). Improved 30-day readmission rates have been achieved with better management of chronic illness combined with RN follow-up through home visits and or telephone calls. The RN reviews medications to be taken, educates patients about how to schedule follow-up visits, and helps patients recognize warning signs that should prompt them to call or immediately visit a care provider, breaking the cycle of acute exacerbation.

Reductions in hospital readmissions have been achieved with interventions focused on the transitions and support of patients post discharge. Coleman et al. (2006) reduced readmissions from 20% to 12.8 % in a cohort, randomized controlled study on transitional care. The connection and communication with nurses in the hospital and the days following discharge better enables patients to transition to home care, reducing incidence of 30-day readmission (Snyderman et al, 2014). This project specifically uses a risk stratification tool that will identify high-risk patients for readmission. Once a patient is identified as high-risk, nursing interventions addressing a personalized transition of care plan including specific education needs at discharge including medications, physician appointments, and signs of exacerbation will be implemented.

Project Question

Population, intervention, control, and outcome (PICO) question: Among hospitalized patients diagnosed with exacerbated CHF, does risk stratification and creation of a personalized transition of care plan by the RN with targeted interventions, as compared to standard care (no risk stratification or targeted interventions) result in fewer readmissions?

Evidence-Based Significance of the Project

Greene (2012) explained that hospitals are struggling to find a solution for a multifaceted problem centered on fears of penalties for high avoidable readmission rates. There needs to be assurance that no gaps exist as patient's transition through the continuum of care. Readmissions occur due to a variety of causes (Kelly, 2011). Because older patients often suffer from multiple health issues and chronic illnesses transitions need to be seamless. Chronic heart failure does not always follow a logical progression, as evidenced by varied comorbidities. Also, financial motivators such as reduced reimbursements and increased expenses are strong drivers for facilities to find a solution. Administrators must consider that reductions in length of stay, combined with fewer homes care visits, can result in increased readmissions, as patients are not getting the needed education to self-manage their disease.

Coleman's transition of care framework (Coleman, Parry, Chalmers, & Min, 2006) offered evidenced-based practice (EBP) direction for research on the transitions of care. Kelly (2011) discussed the importance of interventions to reduce readmission rates and reflects the current issues around self-care in the transition of care. There is

opportunity to change care for older adults across the continuum by providing patient-centered care (Coleman et al., 2002). Risk assessment has limitations, but is useful in directing resources and interventions where they are needed.

The transition of care framework touches on nursing caring theories, particularly self-care and self-care management (Orem, 2001). Improved outcomes can be obtained for those suffering from chronic illness by using Coleman's framework as a basis to undertake research and develop interventions. Recent studies are focusing on actual experiences of the patients, placing the patient at the center of care, rather than the caregivers (Yen et al, 2011).

The EBP discussed here and in the literature that have been shown to bridge the gaps in transition. The literature review conducted describes transitional care interventions as those interventions that are designed to reduce readmissions among populations who are transitioning from care setting to another (Feltner et al, 2014). Intensity of interventions can be tailored to patients through the use of risk stratification tools (Snyderman et al, 2014). While risk stratification modeling is a work in progress, efficiencies must be obtained to focus resources where they are needed most. However, some models have proved useful in certain settings and are worth further evaluation (Kansagara, et al, 2011). Feltner et al. (2014) analyzed 47 trials and determined that programs to reduce CHF readmits must maintain a strategy that fully supports patient's pre and post-discharge. Additionally, Feltner et al. found that many of these programs reported cost savings.

Applying this research to the population admitted for acute exacerbation of CHF will enable PLCMMCT to identify those patients that are high risk for readmission.

Once these patients are identified through risk scoring, resources can be applied where they are most needed. Given that patients are extremely vulnerable for readmission during transitions from hospital to home, the proposed interventions focus on this period. A multidisciplinary team focusing on early and accurate disease information will positively affect continuity of care, as well as patient safety and satisfaction while providing efficient use of resources.

Implications for Social Change

Diseases such as CHF significantly impair the patient's ability to function. Social responsibility is advocacy for the greater communities, and nurses have the expertise to advance human caring as professional patient advocates (Tyer-Viola et al, 2009). Properly preparing patients for self-care through education can reduce hospital readmissions by preparing patients for the transition from the acute care setting to home. The readmission of chronically ill patients continues to be a health care problem and occurs through a variety of causes (Kelly, 2011). Elderly patients often suffer from a combination of health issues and chronic diseases impairing their ability to function normally and reducing their quality of life. The research reviewed reveals the practice problem is affecting health care locally and nationally. The transition of care framework offers possible direction for interventions that can improve outcomes, ultimately reducing readmissions. The research shows a gap in the continuum of care. Lack of adherence to medication regimens or follow-up with providers are areas that increase exacerbation of

heart failure, thereby increasing readmission to hospitals (Stauffer, et al, 2011). This work represents a deliberate process, integrating evidence-based nursing interventions in bringing about social change for a vulnerable population.

The DNP researcher can keep the review of literature pertinent to the desired subject by focusing on the practice problem, as well as the patient population (Terry, 2012). In the context of the transitions of care model, there is an overlap with both patient centered care (PCC) and self-care. The Institute of Medicine has brought prominence to PCC making patient centered outcomes the theme of recent research (Epstein & Street, 2011). Self-care can be approached and described as one of the essential components in chronic disease management. Self-care is influenced by many factors. Maintaining health is dynamic and these factors can help articulate the subjective and dynamic nature of health and promote practices that enable management of chronic diseases (Riegel, Jaarsma & Stromberg, 2012). A defining feature of EBP is linking the current research findings with patient values, conditions and circumstances (Zaccagnini & White, 2011). Riegel, Jaarsma, and Stromberg (2012) evaluated readmissions for chronic illness from a self-care perspective. Implementing nursing interventions for high-risk patients with CHF specific to helping them better manage their chronic illness can, therefore, reduce the readmission rate.

Summary

Hospitals continue to experience challenges around readmissions centered on reimbursement penalties. Medicare estimated that in 2004 the cost of unplanned rehospitalization was \$17.4 billion, causing the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid

Services to impose penalties for readmissions within 30-days (Snyderman et al, 2014). Linking current research findings with a patient's conditions, values, and circumstances is a defining feature of EBP (Zaccagnini & White, 2011). There is clear opportunity for nurse leaders to improve outcomes through EBP interventions around readmission within my community. By identifying patients at risk for readmission and creating an interdisciplinary plan of care that covers both short term and long-term interventions, the patient will be better able to manage their disease and maintain their health without hospitalization.

Section 2: Review of Scholarly Evidence

Collecting and analyzing etiology and intervention data to determine the cause of readmissions can help achieve reductions in readmissions. Most research has focused efforts on 30-day readmissions; however, the literature shows that interventions are not working beyond the 30-days (Gheorghiade, Vaduganathan, Fonarow, & Bonow, 2013). Patients need health care professionals to focus on more reliable long-term interventions that can improve their quality of life in the face of chronic illness.

Strategies can be developed to help hospitals lower the rate of avoidable readmissions. Patients being discharged are at low capacity for self-care (Leppin et al, 2014). Hospitals can facilitate this by identifying those patients who are at high risk and implementing interventions to increase patient's ability for self-care. The push for positive patient outcomes combined with current economics in health care makes this an important issue for acute care hospitals to resolve. The literature reflects a focus on the various issues with readmissions. Effective interventions to reduce readmissions are

found in the research and pinpoint the specific components interventions need to produce reductions in readmissions (Leppin et al, 2014). Highly supportive discharge interventions enhance patient capacity to enact burdensome self-care and avoid readmissions.

The purpose of the literature review is to establish the value that previous research can provide on the topic (Terry, 2012), identifying evidence of interventions that can reduce the problem of readmissions among CHF patients. The use of tools in combination with education can enable patients to care for themselves creating a better quality of life and reduce readmissions. If readmissions are reduced nationally, the financial hardship placed on health care may also be reduced. Hospital to Home (H2H) is an example of a program that can assist in sharing best practices and increase knowledge around these patients (American College of Cardiology, 2013).

General Literature

The focus on interventions around transitions in care is due to consistent increases in readmissions to the acute care setting. The Joint Commission has remained focused on patient handoffs as a national patient safety goal. Hospitals have an imperative to understand the current state and the current research that pertains to gaps in transitions of care before implementing a transitional care intervention or quality improvement project. Evaluating the strength and consistency of the evidence in the literature is key to understanding the strength of current clinical interventions.

An extensive Internet search was performed using nursing Cumulative Index of Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL), medical (MEDLINE, PUBMED) and general databases available through the Walden University Library. The searches produced over 500 articles, theoretical papers, dissertations, meta-analyses, reviews, and empirical research studies that provide support for this project. The search of systematic reviews and study articles of transitional care models or interventions was conducted using combinations of the key words nurse practitioner, APN, transitional care, rehospitalization, readmission, nurse-led, heart failure, and care transitions. The most prevalent level of evidence in these articles is Level C or B using American Association of Colleges of Nursing evidence leveling system (Armola et al, 2009).

As health care moves through changes in economics and clinical care, the patient needs to remain at the center of decisions using EBP to ensure outcomes are consistent with quality and safety. Patients are being discharged sooner with a focus on reducing length of stay (LOS), however, this is not without a cost. Unruh, Trivedi, Grabowski and Mor (2013) explained that a reduction in LOS by one day was associated with readmission in patients with complications. While nursing has increased the amount of information they are providing patients to take home, the face-to-face time and direct education with return demonstration has declined. There are many gaps in the education being provided to patients limiting their ability to recognize the signs and symptoms related to the disease (Slater, Phillips, & Woodard, 2008).

Prior to discharge, patients need crucial information related to their disease allowing their transition to be bridged with valuable strategies to maintaining health.

Post discharge calls help patients understand their treatment and medications limiting the chances of compromised health (Rush, 2012). The overall patient experience is also

enhanced as the gaps in transition are filled, guiding patients through the pitfalls causing readmission. Rush (2012) reported that making discharge calls is not without issue in large systems but there are many benefits that can be realized. Instituting discharge calls provide nurses an opportunity to positively impact the quality and safety of patients treated. Discharge calls promote a patient and family centered approach to care by ensuring they have their needs met and questions answered as measured through increased patient satisfaction. Patients often have difficulty understanding written instructions as well as recalling what was told them by the health care providers (Engel et al., 2009). Establishing a relationship with the patient, determining their unique needs, integrating those needs into the discharge teaching, and following up with the patient after discharge could facilitate better understanding and compliance. This, in turn, would help the patient achieve that level of being able to self-manage their care.

In a summary of lessons learned, Rush (2013) acknowledged the importance of education to staff members. A standard process needs to be developed taught and audited during the early phases of the practice change to ensure success. Staff must become competent in any new practice change to enable their success or the results can be negative. Inconsistency often results in poor satisfaction for patients and a poor coalition within the team. A team of influential leaders must be formed to provide the foundation needed to realize success in changes that are to be implemented. Meeting these conditions nurses experience many examples of saves with patients that would likely be readmitted do to exacerbation without intervention (Rush, 2012). Questions asked of patients require teach-back as a technique to ensure that patients understand the

instructions. When patients explain what they have been taught this reinforces the education they have received prior to discharge, at the time of call follow up, and with physician appointments.

The identification of transitional care is defined as services and environments designed to ensure health care continuity complimenting primary care and avoid preventable poor outcomes among populations at risk, as they move from one level of care to another (Naylor, Aiken, Kurtzman, Olds and Hirschman, 2011). The article focused on studies that included interventions based on this definition of transitional care targeting adults with a chronic disease or complex health issue.

Beyond the efforts by TJC-instituted national patient safety goals, the Affordable Care Act of 2010 has introduced a variety of programs and services around transitions of care to improve quality and reduce costs associated with readmissions. The literature demonstrates that programs designed for hospitalized patients with complex chronic conditions can help with transitions in a safe and timely manner from one level of care to another. In both this review, and the reviews conducted by Naylor et al. (2011), many interventions demonstrated positive effects on measures centered on health reform and readmissions.

In the literature reviewed, successful interventions shared commonalities such as a nurse-led program and included home visits or follow up calls following discharge.

Neff, Madigan, and Narsavage (2003) evaluated an intensive home follow-up program for patients that did not include any inpatient component. Another article by Jencks,

Williams, and Coleman (2009) evaluated a comprehensive discharge-planning

intervention that integrated a post discharge phone call from a pharmacist for medication reconciliation. Interventions in these studies and in Coleman et al. (2006) led to reductions in readmissions producing positive outcomes beyond 30 days after discharge. It should be noted that successful follow up is reported when trained nurses are performing education that guides patients and helps them to gain confidence in managing their illness (Slater, Phillips & Woodard, 2008). Hospital readmissions are increased when patients are not properly educated or prepared for the transition from the acute care setting. When patients are enabled and empowered to care for themselves, the best outcomes, reduced readmissions, and cost control can be achieved.

The literature reinforces this lack of education is affecting health care nationally and the transition of care framework offers some insight into interventions to improve outcomes reducing readmissions in this population. The older population will almost double in the next 15 years based on the IOM report, *Retooling for an Aging America:*Building the Health Care Workforce (2008). The gap that exists in the continuum of care only exacerbates issues related to medication regimens and follow-up with providers leading to exacerbation of heart failure and increasing readmission to the acute setting (Stauffer et al, 2011).

As health care organizations struggle with increasing costs and reduced reimbursements, decreasing readmissions offers the potential of increased quality, better outcomes, and reduced costs. Timing is a key factor that can exponentially assist in bringing a proposed change forward for consideration. Slater, Phillips and Woodard (2008) reported the cost of admission for CHF patients decreased from \$11,993 to \$6,553

per admission when the patient received a follow-up call after discharge. These costs are primarily associated with a reduction in the length of stay following targeted education by trained nurses. The success in a reduction of readmissions is also associated with specialty, or focused, units due to the level of expertise of nurses providing education (Jensen, 2011).

Enabling patients to care for themselves through use of tools and education create a better quality of life. If done correctly, this self-care also reduces the financial hardship on healthcare. There are many institutions that could share best practice. Programs such as Hospital to Home (H2H) are helping to increase knowledge of these practices (American College of Cardiology, 2013).

Conceptual Models and Theoretical Frameworks

Nursing theories are abstract ideas directing nursing research and education as well as the practice of nursing. The implementation of practice changes and specialized ideas using nursing theory should lead toward improved patient safety and increase positive patient outcomes. Practice changes using nursing theory must be evaluated for appropriateness in the patient population where it will be used. This should occur prior to implementation of the theory chosen. When putting a theory in practice, one needs to consider the ways in which the approach will affect the nursing unit by assessing the potential for observing and recording factors that are relevant to the theory's application (Chinn, 2008).

Middle range theories were evaluated using the Fawcett and Garity (2009) model for evaluating nursing theory. In an effort to evaluate the theory, the concepts and

propositions put forth in the conceptual model were examined. Four criteria—

significance, internal consistency, parsimony, and testability—were used to evaluate the middle-range theories.

Changes in health and illness of individuals are looked at from various perspectives to evaluate a potential process of transition. The vulnerability of clients during transitions is viewed to place them at higher risk to have further adverse health events. The theory seeks to identify these risks through gaining an understanding of the transition process. Feltner et al. (2014) suggested the uncoordinated care leads to poor outcomes, based on the concept of transitions as a potential framework to create patient centered interventions. In this article, the emerging middle-range theory of transitions is considered in the light of the types and patterns of transitions, properties of transition experiences, facilitating and inhibiting conditions, process indicators, outcome indicators, and nursing therapeutics (Meleis et al., 2010).

There is a varying degree of vulnerability in patients who are experiencing a change in health status that applies in many settings of care. Understanding how individual patients are affected by the transition between levels of care can help practitioners identify and tailor interventions. The concept of transition is not new to nursing and has been analyzed as reflected in the articles reviewed by Meleis et al., (2010). The research explored offers a direction to evaluate the transition framework in a unique way through specific aspects identified within transitions in health. The transition theory offers a socially important unique framework from which to work on practice problems concerning vulnerable populations.

Riegel et al. (2012) approached chronic illnesses, and the readmission problems related to these illnesses from a self-care perspective. The authors described their theory from the viewpoint of the patient's capabilities with regard to self-management skills related to their disease. Ranges of concepts are evaluated including self-care maintenance, self-care monitoring, and self-care management specifically related to chronic disease management along with patient centered outcomes. Self-care is described and approached as an essential component in the management of chronic illnesses. Factors that influence self-care are used to help articulate the subjective and dynamic nature of maintaining health while promoting practices which enable management of chronic disease (Riegel et al., 2012).

The first middle range theory evaluated is still emerging and remains somewhat abstract or broad in its nature. Factors influencing readmission of patients with chronic illness from both the self-care and transitions middle range theories are considered in each article: experience, skill, motivation, culture, confidence, habits, function, cognition, support from others, and access to care are described. Either theory could easily be applied to the practice problem as outlined. In many aspects the self-care theory covers much of what is being considered in the transitions theory.

The selection of Jean Watson's theory of human caring is a practice theory that can be used by nurses in academia or in the practice setting to assist in providing improved patient care (Parker, 2006). Constant changes in healthcare delivery systems around the world have led to intensified working conditions for nurses. The need to provide nurses with ways to improve their care delivery while caring for the mind, body

and spirit of their patients is essential. With this in mind, Watson's theory is a choice to assist in decreasing the likelihood that the simple concept of caring is not discarded for the tasks being performed. Caring is essential to humanistic values and must be practiced daily with our patients (Cara, 2003). Nurse leaders must focus on these elements ensuring that nurses do not delegate the important work to others who are unable to assess patients appropriately.

According to Watson (1999), the major elements of her theory are (a) the carative factors, (b) the transpersonal caring relationship, (c) the caring occasion/caring moment. The preceding description of the basis of Watson's theory opens the gates for further exploration into this model of nursing theory and how it can be implemented effectively. Watson is not alone and shares similarities with Patricia Benner and Judith Wrubel, being grounded in the essence of nursing in caring (Chinn, 2008). Watson understands, as with Benner (1984) and Wrubel (1989), the essence of caring is found in the actions, thoughts, values and priorities of the practicing nurse.

Jean Watson's aim is to increase the level of caring for patient's mind, body and soul that is directed at the general professional nursing population. The challenge for nursing, then, is not to discover what is missing, weakened, or needed in another, but to nurture that person in situation specific, creative ways and to acknowledge, support, and celebrate the caring that is. The need and desire to change practice for our nurses to better serve our patient is at a high level in the current healthcare environment. Requiring nurse leaders and hospital administrators to be reminded that caring is an essential factor

in improving patient's health must be communicated in order to not forget that caring is not a theory for nursing, but an essential skill.

Using Watson's caring theory may be the change nurses need to understand that no matter how well a skill is performed, people do not care how much you know until they know how much you care. The caring theory approach is a fit for the practice problem considered and over all transitions.

Section 3: Methodology

A systematic investigation is performed to establish facts increasing the understanding around fundamental drivers and responses of behavior in order to determine if applied interventions proposed improve or lower readmission rates (Nash, Reifsnyder, Fabius & Pracilio, 2011). In this case, the systematic investigation is to look at whether the proposed risk stratification tool and nursing interventions when applied to CHF patients in the acute care setting, results in a reduction in 30-day readmissions. When quantifying health problems, the measures of effect are important in determining appropriate interventions. Applying the evidence-based tool and specific nursing interventions at PLCMMCT will determine if the interventions are successful in reducing 30-day readmissions for CHF patients. Developing an intervention based on evidenced based practice and determining the impact on patient outcomes is crucial to improving population health.

Project Design and Methods

There are several strategies to guide the implementation of transitional care under the Affordable Care Act, such as encouraging the adoption of the most effective interventions through such programs as the Community-Based Care Transitions Program and Medicare shared savings and payment bundling experiments.

The environment or setting would be the hospital and patient's home following discharge from an acute heart failure admission in the hospital. Discharge calls would be conducted by both a pharmacist, for medication reconciliation and facilitation of accurate medication administration, and by a CHF Navigator RN for the discharge follow-up. The goal is to determine the effects of a risk stratification of high-risk CHF patients into a transitional care program, focusing on medication reconciliation, function, primary physician follow-up and post discharge follow-up for a group of heart failure patients discharged from the hospital following an acute episode. There are many factors that influence the need for follow-up (Snyderman et al, 2014), disease severity, management complexity, ability of the patient to provide sufficient self-care, and adequacy of social supports. Discharged patients who receive timely outpatient follow-up are less likely to be readmitted (Dunlay, Pereira, & Kushwaha, 2014).

Friis and Sellers (2009) explained that the typical community interventions are aimed at education and behavior change. The proposed transitional approach targeting needed education related to CHF combined with staying connected through a RN transition coach, coordinator or navigator will enable the changes needed. Heart failure remains responsible for high rates of hospitalizations combined with being a significant source of morbidity and mortality. This small project could show what a large-scale population intervention around improving the quality of care provided in transitions could achieve.

Based on retrospective data, two areas of concern at PLCMMCT are clinical processes of patient care and patient experience. Nearly 20% of patients discharged from hospitals experience adverse drug events (Warden et al, 2014), clearly showing an opportunity to reduce readmission by decreasing inaccurate medication reconciliation, decreasing adverse drug reactions, and strengthening transitional communications with patients. Changes in medications during admission further decrease the chances of patient continuing medications at discharge. An average of 28% to 40% of patient home medications are discontinued during hospitalization, and 45% of medications prescribed at discharge were initiated during the hospital stay, making accurate medication instruction vital (Ng et al, 2013).

The baseline data at PLCMMCT shows inaccurate or missing medications on discharge medication lists. A review of discharge medications revealed an 83% defect rate with patient prescriptions. The national average of prescription compliance (accuracy of adhering to the medication regime) or actual obtaining the prescription after discharge is 30% (Warden et al, 2014). PLCMMCT is at 23% for obtaining prescription prior to discharge, demonstrating opportunity for improvement. Warden et al (2014) points out that 60% of adverse medication events after discharge could be prevented with pre-discharge interventions.

Patient satisfaction is another key area that helps practitioners gauge the connection and/or transition from levels of care from one to another. The current Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (HCAHPS) score for patient understanding/explanation of medications at PLCMMCT is currently 57.1%.

Clarke & Milner (2013) reported incremental increases in all levels of patient satisfaction based on discharge calls. Patients who receive a follow-up call after discharge are more likely to consider their experience as positive and the authors also noted reductions in readmissions based on discharge follow-up conducted in a standardized manner.

The 30-day readmission rate at PLCMMCT is averaging 26% for CHF. In the first quarter of 2013, the hospital experienced an 8.3% CHF mortality rate based on Health Services Advisory Group reporting. Discharge calls are currently conducted on 23% of all patients discharged from the hospital. The calls are made by various disciplines including Nursing, Pharmacy, and Case Management. There is no standardized script or methodology for following up on this important patient communication.

This project would standardize the identification of CHF patients at high risk for readmission to ultimately institute interventions to close the gaps previously described, providing a connection of care for this population. The CHF patient, upon admission, will be risk stratified by the CHF Navigator. The score will help direct the interventions needed during the admission, upon discharge and follow-up post discharge along with the other nurse assessments. The CHF Nurse Navigator, based on information received from the tool, will educate and begin planned interventions. This includes follow-up, working in conjunction with the physicians, pharmacy tech, staff nurses, and home health nurses in caring out needed interventions to ensure proper transition and reduce likelihood of readmissions.

Population and Sampling

Specifically, the target population would be admitted patients diagnosed with congestive heart failure, with New York Heart Association (NYHA) classification of II-IV. The basic premise of epidemiology supports that disease, like that of heart disease, does not occur randomly (Friis & Sellers, 2009). A convenience sampling of 25 patients available during the time of the project will be used. This project would use a prospective quality intervention using the population of heart failure patients as described above. Those patients identified high risk for readmission would be called within 24 hours post discharge. The sample would include all patients called over 15-day period and allocated to the experimental group to match the baseline data obtained for comparison. The group would be monitored for 46 days to cover the 30-day readmission target.

The follow-up tool would be implemented for all patients of PLCMMCT who are discharged home with a principle diagnosis of heart failure (HF) or a HF-related problem. The long-term program would be developed so patients discharged with other chronic diseases at high risk for re-hospitalization, such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), could be included in the intervention. This would allow for a wider target population, if needed, to ensure sufficient patient participation in the intervention. Focusing on patients with HF and COPD stems from the observation that these two diagnoses are consistently among the top five seen at PLCMMCT. The evidence shows that approximately 20% of patients in the United States who seek acute care for HF or COPD-related problems are readmitted within 30 days of discharge for a preventable

cause. Patients with known cognitive impairment, or without a reliable caregiver, will be excluded, as will patients who are placed on hospice or palliative care.

Intervention

The number of interventions will vary for each patient depending on the completed risk tool. The major areas or risk being assessed are: previous readmission in last 30 days, problem medications, psychiatric complications, principle diagnosis, polypharmacy, poor health literacy, patient support, prior hospitalization and palliative care. The interventions will be initiated based on the CHF navigator's assessment of all of these key areas of risk. All high-risk patients will receive universal interventions including: Verification of primary care physician (PCP), follow-up appointment with PCP five days post discharge, home health order and medications filled prior to discharge.

There are gaps in the adult chronic care continuum related to variables involved with teaching and empowering patients that could be improved to create better transitions. The research has shown that a directed focus results in better patient self-care (Coleman et al, 2006). There is a need for a more integrated role of health care providers in patient centered transitions along the continuum of care as patients move from acute care to their home. There is also a need for a cost-effective intervention that can be applied to multiple populations suffering with heart failure. Decreased cognitive abilities are an underlying issue among chronically ill adults related to both age and disease process that inhibits some of the programs and teaching that is undertaken in hospitals.

Proposed interventions for care transitions have proved effective underscoring the possibilities to improve health outcomes for this population (Voss et al, 2011).

Nursing interventions around the transition of care that increases education and focus on self-care at home can be undertaken to reduce heart failure readmissions. Based on the literature and best practice, discharge calls combined with medication reconciliation will be undertaken to reduce avoidable readmissions, increase knowledge of medications, increase patient satisfaction, and reduce costs.

CHF patients, during an acute inpatient hospitalization event, will be followed utilizing pre-discharge medication reconciliation and self-care education by the CHF navigator. Following discharge, the patients will receive a discharge call based on the standardized tool, providing education along with support to reduce the risk of readmissions due to self-care gaps. Currently these patients are only given physician directed advice about remaining active and following the discharge advice. Current analysis at PLCMMCT suggests there is opportunity to enhance medication reconciliation and discharge education combined with in home follow-up. The continued education after discharge, combined with risk mitigation during the follow-up, will increase the potential for a proper transition from hospital care to self-care and wellness maintenance.

Post-discharge telephone calls will be used to collect data on patient level of understanding of discharge instructions. These calls have proven to be beneficial for patient satisfaction scores as well as in decreasing readmissions. Data collected reveals that patients tend to not retain the discharge instructions at the time of discharge (Willard,

2005). A phone call by a nurse navigator and pharmacist will be made post discharge to ensure the patient understood their discharge instructions and their medication regimen.

The focus on maintaining quality of life, while slowing the progression of the disease, can be achieved through medication management, dietary and lifestyle changes, and patient self-monitoring. Bohachick et al (2012) explains that adherence to medication and lifestyle changes are critical keys to successfully managing CHF thereby reducing hospital admissions, and increasing survival rates. Fernandez, Rajaratnam, Evans, and Speizer (2012) point out the setting of goals in cardiac rehabilitation lead to improvements in health based on patient's behaviors.

Readmissions are increased when patients do not receive proper education and are not prepared for the transition from the acute care setting home. In order to validate interventions that are carried out, evaluation of outcomes is required (Willard, 2005). Evaluating outcomes determines if a particular intervention was worth doing. Measuring patient outcomes helps make decisions about managing their care (Willard, 2005). Understanding how well the intervention improved the patient's outcome toward better health will help determine continued use.

The patients who received the enhanced education, medication reconciliation, and post discharge follow up are expected to show a difference in functional capacity with regard to activities of daily living and no readmissions within the 30 days. In creating a positive transition from acute care that leads to reduction in acute care episodes, the CHF Navigator must focus on teaching patients to enhance self-care techniques (Coleman et all, 2004). The CHF Navigator is in the ideal role to provide the type of coaching and

ongoing support in the weeks following discharge. Naylor's intervention, like Coleman's also focuses on empowering the patient, however, Naylor (2004) showed that changes in the plan of care could be expedited to meet the needs of the patients filling the role of both provider and coach.

Epidemiologic research is conducted around how different actions affect behavior change combined with how these changes can influence population wellness. Primary and secondary research can be accomplished through a scientific framework that creates a structure to complete the research project. Population health can be improved by establishing evidence-based solutions that will allow us to improve the effectiveness of care delivery. Nash, Reifsnyder, Fabius and Pracilio (2011) explain that if the entire community is engaged in a consistent process using data issue ownership, champions of change, and convergence of constituencies can be garnered.

Enabling patients to better care for themselves with the use of additional education and tools provided can improve quality of life in CHF patients. When done on a global scale, better self-care may reduce the financial hardship on healthcare.

Institutions that have best practice can also share these practices through programs such as Hospital to Home (H2H) that help to increase knowledge of these practices (American College of Cardiology, 2012).

Project Evaluation

The DNP-prepared nurse should be able to effectively use evaluation methods to analyze data from evidence-based interventions in order to determine the best methods for positive outcomes. Regardless of the research design or model chosen, planning

around evaluation begins at the onset of an intervention with the end or hypothesis in mind. Using epidemiologic studies, results can be analyzed through the evaluation process to demonstrate how screening or intervention can potentially improve population health. AACN requires the doctoral prepared nurse be able to predict and analyze in order to design evidence-based interventions to improve health (American Association of Colleges of Nursing, 2006).

Outcomes for the project will be determined by broadly defined goals and narrowly defined and measurable objectives. The broad goal of this project is to validate an education tool that can be used post discharge to reduce preventable hospital readmissions by providing CHF patients at PLCMMCT a safe and effective transition from hospital to home.

The specific and measureable objectives, outcome indicators, and outcome expectations of the program:

Objective: Implement the risk Stratification tool for the CHF patient that can reduce the number of readmissions in a 30-day period among CHF patients discharged home from PLCMMCT following an emergency department (ED) visit or inpatient stay for CHF related illness who received the nurse led follow-up.

- Outcome Measure 1: Successful use of the tool in identifying patients at high risk for readmission through validation by the CHF navigator.
- Outcome Expectation 1: List of identified high risk for readmission CHF patients for CHF Nurse Navigator to implement specific interventions.

- Outcome Measure 2: Readmission rate of those identified by the tool as high risk using interventions as outlined.
- Outcome Expectation 2: No 30-day readmissions within the group of CHF
 patients receiving the interventions will be less than a group of the same
 number who did not receive the interventions.

Friis & Sellers (2009) explain that the benefits or results of an intervention that is planned should not be assumed, but should be quantified. In this way, EBP can be used to help an investigator make assumptions based on previous work that may resemble or share characteristics of a program being planned. A community study results in a group that either receives the new intervention or not, and both groups are evaluated for the outcomes.

The advancements in medicine and an increasing proportion of lifestyle diseases have created a need for patients to manage their disease (Otsu & Moriyama, 2011).

Patient's lives are greatly altered by onset and potential deterioration of chronic disease.

With this in mind, the formative and process evaluations were assessed as an education transition of care approach for patients with heart failure to maintain quality of life and reduce readmissions to the hospital was considered. CHF is responsible for high rates of hospitalization and is a significant source of morbidity and mortality especially when in combination with multiple diseases.

The final stages of evaluation that should be considered are the impact and outcome evaluations. Both of these stages inform program planners on progress towards

the goals. The surveys collected and analyzed as completed by the CHF experts will be used as a primary measure of success of a validated implementable tool.

Coleman et al (2006) demonstrated that recognizing the key roles patients play in their own care enabling active participation lowers readmission rates. When hospitals are surveyed, medication reconciliation is acknowledged as not being standardized (Walker, 2012). Walker further acknowledges the collaboration efforts with nursing and pharmacy in improving medication accuracy upon discharge can facilitate better transitions in care.

Fundamentally, the admission and discharge to the hospital alone place a patient at great risk due to inadvertent information loss or communication gaps (Kwan, Lo, Sampson & Shojania, 2013). When 67% of patients admitted to hospitals have medication errors (Kwan et al, 2013) we have that the opportunity to make small changes that can significantly improve outcomes (Walker, 2012).

There are many factors that may create issues in studies and quality improvement efforts that must be taken into consideration in the planning phases. In the case of this CHF intervention, the size of the group, along with non-compliance, could limit generalizability. Larger studies can be more accurate and reduce measurement error, but can be costly and take a greater period of time to complete. In the case of CHF education, and a program around transitions of care, noncompliance is a known issue.

In this, and other evaluations of a program, focus needs to be targeted where on specific issues and developed so expense can be minimized to sustain actions. An effective program is accessible to all and addresses lifestyle and dietary changes, exercise, and medication management. The quality of life for patients, families, and the

community at large should be improved. The risk stratification tool can be a foundational step in reducing avoidable readmissions.

Summary

The future of health care is dependent on a need for increased emphasis on interprofessional collaboration by health care providers (Park, Hawkins, Hawkins & Hamlin, 2013). The medication reconciliation process can be enhanced by the interaction between nursing and pharmacy. Specifically, Park et al., (2013) explains that interprofessional collaboration for older adults with chronic conditions can result in comprehensive follow-up care leading to reduced morbidity, and reduced health care costs.

The DNP uses research findings to improve patient care by bridging the gap between research and practice through a model of Translation Research. Translational Research is an emerging model (Studt, 2014) allowing the DNP to translate the research into clinical practice. If health in a community or within a population is to be positively affected, the culture along with the environment must be addressed. Psychosocial epidemiology is described by Friis & Sellers (2009) as a broad concept that includes psychological, behavioral and social factors. Psychosocial factors play an important role in individual health while having a significant impact on population health. Change in behavior is important when considering the relationship between psychosocial risk factors and health outcomes.

Patients must manage their daily life and be equipped to self manage chronic disease. Otsu & Moriyama (2011) point out that advancements in medicine and an

increasing proportion of lifestyle diseases are creating the need for patients to manage their disease.

This proposal outlines the implementation of a risk stratification tool, as well as standardized interventions to be implemented upon identification of high-risk patients based on the evidence outlined. The plan is structured to use the risk stratification tool to identify patients who have an increased risk for readmission based on scores obtained from the tool. The intervention of the post-discharge follow-up call by a pharmacist and CHF nurse navigator will be implemented. An assessment to determine the compliance of patients with their medication regimen as well as the readmission rate will be performed. Analysis will review the efficacy of the interventions and determine if the outcomes are sufficient to continue with the program as designed, or make further adjustments to the identified interventions.

Implementation of a standardized risk stratification tool that identifies patients at risk for re-admission can ensure that standardized interventions and follow-up are implemented. This standardization will improve the quality of life for patients with CHF as well as decrease the financial penalties assessed on an institution that is unable to successfully transition these patients. Including a pharmacist and a nurse navigator that follow standardized work will ensure consistency in the practice and evaluation of the interventions.

Chapter 4: Discussion and Implications

Evaluation of Findings

The Care Transition Gaps: Risk Identification and Intervention project has been approved by Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) reference number 01-08-15-0124066 and has been overseen by Providence Little Company of Mary Medical Center Torrance IRB.

The project design has moved from premise to proposal as a grand design, into a final manageable cost effective approach to work on the issues around CHF readmissions. The project has been downsized, leaving more aspects to pursue in the future. Expansion on studies or work that has already been done could add to the body of work that can lead to outcome improvements. The evaluation and outcomes of this small project show readmissions can be reduced with a large-scale population intervention could achieve.

The results and findings of this prospective quality intervention have shown positive outcomes on multiple levels. The Risk Stratification tool did work as it was intended in identifying patients at high risk for re-admission related to CHF. The tool also helped the Nurse Navigator ensure that needed nursing interventions were undertaken. The outcome expectation of a list of identified high risk for readmission CHF patients for CHF Nurse Navigator to implement specific interventions was achieved. The CHF Nurse Navigator did risk score and work with all twenty-five patients.

The second outcome expectation was that the number of 30-day readmissions within the group of CHF patients receiving the interventions would be less than a group of the same number who did not receive the interventions was achieved. Twenty-five patients were screened and monitored for re-admission. One of the patients was readmitted, but this was unrelated to CHF diagnosis, twenty-four of the patients did not experience readmission within 30 days of discharge.

Discussion of Findings

One of the fundamental findings in this project was the dynamic of the collaborative team; working together to ensure patients receive the elements of care necessary to transition them home maintain health improvement. Orienting the collaborative team to the process and Risk Stratification Tool was key to the success in carrying out crucial interventions designed to fill the gaps that many CHF patients experience during transitions of care. Medication management, dietary and lifestyle changes, and patient self-management are a few things that were found to help fill these gaps as patients transition home.

The initial identification of CHF patients admitted proved to be difficult until a report was created that helped filter the patients based on diagnosis. Once the patients were identified the implementation of the Risk Stratification Tool went very well with CHF Nurse Navigator handling all patients.

Implications

Re-admissions of patients are occurring through a variety of causes (Kelly, M., 2011). Re-admissions are increased when patients do not receive proper education and

are not prepared for the transition from the acute care setting home. Physical activity changes post discharge, improve health function and improve quality of life. The patients who received the enhanced education, medication reconciliation and post discharge follow up are expected to show a difference in functional capacity with regard to activities of daily living and no readmissions within the 30 days. In creating a positive transition from acute care that leads to reduction in acute care episodes the APN must focus on teaching patients to enhance self-care techniques (Coleman et all, 2004).

The future of health care is inter-twined with a need for increased emphasis on inter-professional collaboration by health care providers (Park, Hawkins, Hawkins & Hamlin, 2013). The medication reconciliation process can be enhanced by the interaction between nursing and pharmacy. Specifically, Park (2013) explains that inter-professional collaboration for older adults with chronic conditions can result in comprehensive follow-up care leading to reduced morbidity, and reduced health care costs.

The project proved important to practice at PLCMMCT, as the tool served to highlight problems with care being provided. This creates opportunities for the team to work on identified problems and pilot changes in process that can improve patient outcomes. The tool served as a patient centered audit that enables the team to move resources to the greatest areas of weakness. The role of the CHF Nurse Navigator highlighted the need for individual patient case management in cases of complex multi-disease processes. The project shows promise for population intervention to reduce CHF readmissions, improving the quality of care provided in transitions. In the case of PLCMMCT specifically the project has offered insight into how care can be both

standardized to reduce variation in services provided and tailored for individual patient needs.

Project Strengths and Limitations

One of the strengths of the project has been the collaboration of multiple disciplines in carrying out the interventions based on the Risk Stratification Tool. The risk tool proved beneficial in not only identifying the CHF patients that were high risk, but also determining which interventions should be used. Additionally the follow up interventions that are built into the tool created a standard to follow the patients post discharge creating connections from the care received in the hospital to the care needed post discharge.

Another benefit of the tool was it helped pinpoint strengths and weaknesses with the care needed while the patients were in the hospital. Weakness in the hospital can lead to further gaps as patient's transition to other care settings. The pharmacist involvement in these patients care proved to be very strong as all patients were followed by a pharmacist and received identified interventions. Case Management and Home Health Care involvement did not take place where their interventions, based on the tool, would have been beneficial. However based on the project design the Nurse Navigator was serving in the capacity of a CHF Case Manager.

The project was designed around the CHF Nurse Navigator coordinating the interventions which was a strength but also felt to be a limitation. Certainly having one person following the twenty-five patients in the project proved beneficial. However it is likely not a sustainable direction with penalties around re-admission on CHF and other

diagnosis being added for readmission penalties. Based on this, the strength of the tool and standardization of interventions proven to help lower CHF re-admissions the primary nurses role should be further explored for participation in hospital preparation for transitions home

One challenge identified was the follow up appointments with the primary care physician after discharge. Overall appointments with a primary physician were a challenge even for the health team professionals to arrange. There is an opportunity to explore a nurse driven outpatient follow up clinic for timely follow-up and facilitating physician involvement post discharge.

The Risk Stratification Tool can be made clearer with greater clarification of who is going to carry out the interventions or ensure that they are carried out. Based on the interventions carried out on the patients it appears that the health team would have benefited from check system based on the individual work that needed to be carried out. Recommendations for remediation of limitations would begin with adjusting the Risk Stratification Tool to be color-coded and made clearer to ensure the multidisciplinary team can carry out interventions timely.

Analysis of Self

I am currently working in Nurse Administration for Providence in California as the Chief Nursing Officer. My focus has been on leadership as this has where I have spent a great deal of my career as well as in as a specialty. My main goal in obtaining my DNP has been to advance my education in a way that would enable me to bring improvements in nursing practice to the bedside. I have gained a great deal of respect for

my fellow classmates/colleagues and the varied degree of expertise. I am grateful for their examples along with the many experiences shared throughout all my courses.

I have completed my practicum hours in Nurse Administration alongside a Chief Operating Officer who is a RN with a remarkable level of human caring an example of how a professional nurse can care for a community. When considering patient centered approaches to care, this mentor has served as a wonderful example of keeping the focus on the patient. My hours have been very exciting as we experience the many changes occurring in health care.

Leadership

Moving projects involving evidence-based practice can be very challenging with the varying disciplines and personalities involved. In my experience in this practicum and from experience in the profession, perceptions and communication are key factors in either moving EBP or solving patient care issues. When considering leadership, relationships play a vital role in creating alignment or personal investment. Manion (2005) discusses relationships as one of four key domains of the competencies needed by leaders.

In reflecting on the courses and my practicum setting, I have been in leadership positions that have enabled me to tap into the resources and expertise quickly. An example was when we were interviewing CNOs, CFOs and others on the executive team. I was already very familiar and met often with these leaders. These relationships made accomplishing some of the tasks at hand much easier.

It is a challenging time for leadership in nursing as health care is rapidly changing. I had stated following nursing school that I would never lead nurses. Quite the opposite has been true. As a leader and now in establishing relationships for my practicums, social competencies have played an important role in my success. The leader must be emotionally intelligent at not only the individual level but social as well. Social awareness as Manion (2005) describes it, in recognition and social competence. If there is no relationship the leaders ability to affect change is greatly deteriorated from the onset. I have been able to form good relationships with many at my practicum site; this has helped with the process of change. In fact in most cases it would be difficult if not impossible to get any idea off the ground without foundational relationships.

My experience around this project with respect to changing practice based on evidence will get better from exercising the skills. This will come from leveraging servant leadership and using EBP change to improve patient care. However being honest about where I am at in the growth process and inviting others to join the journey will continue to be helpful.

Advanced Nursing Practice

The strength of the APN in caring for elderly patients suffering from CHF can be found in their attention to all of the physical, psychosocial, and financial problems these frail patients face (McCauley, Bixby & Naylor 2006). The DNP Essentials (AACN, 2006) address the specific core competencies necessary for advance practice in nursing. The practicuum experience and project oultined here have specifically addressed the following DNP essentials:

- Essential I: Scientific Underpinnings for Practice
- Essential VI: Inter-professional Collaboration for Improving Patient and Population Health Outcomes
- Essential VII: Clinical Prevention and Population Health for Improving the Nation's Health (AACN, 2006)

The AACN Essentials of practice competencies help to articulate the level of practice that the DNP specialty nurse must practice. The work on the project has offered some great opportunities to open the eyes of others through my research and examining the literature. Just as my perception has changed during the process of the practicum and course work, so can the perception of my fellow nurses through involvement in EBP. Walsh (2010) explains EBP as a process that enables holistic and individualized care to be developed in a way that uses best practice in caring for patients. Educating and leading from this level of nursing will ensue the next generation of nurses is prepared to provide safe and effective patient centered care.

Improving Health Outcomes

The continuum of care is fragmented with opportunities to make improvements in transitions home through behavioral modifications (Kay et al, 2006). There are not only gaps in the transitions occurring in health care but also in the knowledge of caregivers in understanding these gaps. Creating tools that place emphasis on patient centered care will help population heath and enable links to services that currently do not exist. There is a great deal of potential to advance and improve care.

Informing Health Care Policy

Hospitals are making needed adjustments in reducing readmissions based for the most part on penalties being imposed by CMS. The steps being taken are long overdue, but should still be based on the patients rather then penalties that will be incurred. Patients continue to be treated more quickly reducing LOS only inviting re-admissions to occur. While the system is being revamped other aspects of the health care curve have not caught up. Pushing patients to be treated quicker requires healthcare be operationally prepared as systems that link the continuum of care. This project has highlighted opportunities to improve healthcare policy around home health benefits. Lower length of stays can be maintained if post acute services are reimbursed and aimed at linking future care to interventions provided in acute care settings. The project has shown the benefit of home health care is not always available when warranted.

Summary

Hospitals know that in order to provide services in today's health care we need to be flexible and adaptable to accommodate changes while ensuring that the care nurses provide is of the quality expected by those using the services (Walsh, 2010). In thinking about the health-promotion and disease-prevention around CHF, there are many initiatives related to this disease, as it is an international health issue. The APN is in the ideal role to provide the type of coaching and ongoing support in the weeks following discharge.

Any goal that helps patients and families improve their quality of life, understanding of the disease and potentially reduces health care costs is a step in the right

direction. My fundamental understanding of EBP has evolved from these courses. While it has been stated that a DNP-prepared nurse has ethical and professional obligations related to disseminating findings I would challenge that all registered nurses should take up this responsibility. I am impressed with the literature that is making this easier for all nurses such as the work by Rossworm and Larrabee Model (1999).

My perception readmission related to CHF has changed in that it is much more complicated than previously imagined or studied. This has narrowed my attention and helped me begin to hone in on aspects that I can effect change. In the short term, there are costs related to improving transitions of care. Even in its simplest form, for example, telemedicine for this population has monthly fees associated with the technology. However, the long-term results show promise in improving quality of life and health for this population at lower costs.

Section 5: Scholarly Product

Dissemination is an important aspect of the DNP role both in educating and pursuing EBP. My scholarly project will be a poster presentation presented at the facility once the project is complete. The goal is to use the standard work created for the CHF population and move it to additional populations at risk for readmission. The long term results of the project will be tracked for inclusion for magnet designation and possible presentation at future professional nursing conferences. The journal of case management is one professional journal that could be used to further present an investigation on readmissions reduction and transition of care improvements.

Most importantly, nursing is evolving, helping registered nurses use evidence based practice to bring the practice of nursing along ensuring patients remain the center of their care is of the utmost importance.

References

- American Association of Colleges of Nursing. (2006). *The essentials of doctoral*education for advanced nursing practice. Retrieved from

 http://www.aacn.nche.edu/publications/position/DNPEssentials.pdf
- American College of Cardiology. (2013). Hospital to Home. Retrieved from:

 http://www.cardiosource.org/Science-And-Quality/Quality-Programs/Hospital-toHome.aspx?w nav=Search&WT.oss=h2h&WT.oss r=53&
- American Heart Association. (2013). Get with the guidelines. Retrieved from:

 http://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/HealthcareResearch/GetWithTheGuidelinesH

 FStroke/GetWithTheGuidelinesHeartFailureHomePage/Target
 HF_UCM_307433_SubHomePage.jsp
- Association for Community Health Improvement. (2006). *Planning, assessment, outcomes & evaluation resources*. Retrieved from http://www.communityhlth.org/communityhlth/resources/planning.html
- Armola, R., Bourgault, A., Halm, M., Board, R., Bucher, L., Harrington, L., & ... Medina, J. (2009). AACN levels of evidence: what's new?. *Critical Care Nurse*, *29*(4), 70-73. doi:10.4037/ccn2009969
- Benner, P. (1984). From novice to expert. *Menlo Park*.
- Benner, P. E., & Wrubel, J. (1989). *The primacy of caring: Stress and coping in health and illness*. Addison-Wesley/Addison Wesley Longman.

- Bohachick, P., Burke, L., Sereika, S., Murali, S., & Dunbar-Jacob, J. (2002). Adherence to angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor therapy for heart failure. Progress in Cardiovascular Nursing, *17*(4), 160-166.
- Cara, C. (2003). A pragmatic view of Jean Watson's caring theory. *International Journal of Human Caring*, 7(3), 51-61.
- Case, R. R., Haynes, D. D., Holaday, B. B., & Parker, V. G. (2010). Evidence-Based Nursing: The Role of the Advanced Practice Registered Nurse in the Management of Heart Failure Patients in the Outpatient Setting. *Dimensions Of Critical Care Nursing*, 29(2), 57-64.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2013). Division for heart disease and stroke prevention. Retrieved from:

http://www.cdc.gov/dhdsp/data statistics/fact sheets/fs heart failure.htm

evaluation. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/eval/framework/index.htm

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2011). A framework for program
- Centre for Reviews and Dissemination. (2012). Effect of dosing frequency on chronic cardiovascular disease medication adherence (Structured abstract). *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, 28(5), 669-680.
- Chen, W., Liu, G., Yeh, S., Chiang, M., Fu, M., & Hsieh, Y. (2013). Effect of Back
 Massage Intervention on Anxiety, Comfort, and Physiologic Responses in
 Patients with Congestive Heart Failure. *Journal of Alternative & Complementary Medicine*, 19(5), 464-470.

- Chinn, P. L., & Kramer, M. K. (2008). *Integrated knowledge development in nursing* (7th ed.). St. Louis, MO: Mosby.
- Chow, M. K., Quine, S. S., & Li, M. M. (2010). The benefits of using a mixed methods approach quantitative with qualitative to identify client satisfaction and unmet needs in an HIV healthcare centre. AIDS Care, 22(4), 491-498.
- Clarke, P., & Milner, M. (2013). Post-discharge calls and improved satisfaction. Follow-up calls, other efforts improve patient experience, survey scores. *Healthcare Executive*, 28(3), 62.
- Coleman E.A., Smith J.D., Eilertsen T.B., Frank J.C., Thiare J.N., Ward A., and Kramer A.M. (2002). Development and testing of a measure designed to assess the quality of care transitions. *International Journal of Care Integration*, April-June.
- Coleman, E. (2003). Falling through the cracks: Challenges and opportunities for improving transitional care for persons with continuous complex care needs.

 **Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 51(4), 549-555. doi:10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51185.x*
- Coleman, E., & Berenson, R. (2004). Lost in transition: Challenges and opportunities for improving the quality of transitional care. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 141(7), 533-536.
- Coleman, E., Parry, C., Chalmers, S., & Min, S. (2006). The care transitions intervention:

 Results of a randomized controlled trial. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *166*(17), 1822-1828.

- Dharmarajan, K., Hsieh, A.F., Lin Z., Bueno, H., Ross, J.S., Horwitz, L. I., Barreto-Filho, J.A., Kim, N., ...Krumholz, H.M. (2013). Diagnoses and timing of 30-day readmissions after hospitalization for Heart Failure, Acute Myocardial Infarction, or Pneumonia. *JAMA*. 309(4), 355-363. doi:10.1001/jama.2012.216476.
- Dunlay, S., Pereira, N., & Kushwaha, S. (2014). Contemporary strategies in the diagnosis and management of heart failure. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 89(5), 662-676. doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2014.01.004
- Engel, K., Heisler, M., Smith, D., Robinson, C., Forman, J., & Ubel, P. (2009). Patient comprehension of emergency department care and instructions: Are patients aware of when they do not understand?. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, *53*(4), 454. doi:10.1016/j.annemergmed.2008.05.016.
- Epstein, R., & Street, R. (2011). The values and value of patient-centered care. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 9(2), 100-103. doi:10.1370/afm.1239.
- Fawcett, J., & Garity, J. (2009). Chapter 6: Evaluation of middle-range theories. In Evaluating Research for Evidence-Based Nursing (pp. 73-88). Philadelphia, Pennsylvania: F. A. Davis.
- Feltner, C., Jones, C. D., Cené, C. W., Zhi-Jie, Z., Sueta, C. A., Coker-Schwimmer, E. L.,
 & ... Jonas, D. E. (2014). Transitional Care Interventions to Prevent Readmissions
 for Persons With Heart Failure. *Annals Of Internal Medicine*, 160(11), 774-784.
- Fernandez, R., Rajaratnam, R., Evans, K., & Speizer, A. (2012). Goal setting in cardiac rehabilitation: Implications for clinical practice. Contemporary Nurse: A Journal

- for the Australian Nursing Profession, 43(1), 13-21. doi:10.5172/conu.2012.43.1.13
- Friis, R. H., & Sellers, T. A. (2009). *Epidemiology for public health practice* (4th ed.). Sudbury, MA: Jones & Bartlett.
- Gheorghiade, M., Vaduganathan, M., Fonarow, G., & Bonow, R. (2013).

 Rehospitalization for heart failure: problems and perspectives. *Journal Of The American College Of Cardiology*, 61(4), 391-403. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2012.09.038
- Greene, J. (2012). Hospitals face reimbursement penalties over readmission rates. *Crain's Detroit Business*, 28(51), 0017.
- Healthy People 2020. (2013). *Heart disease and stroke*. Retrieved from: http://healthypeople.gov/2020/topicsobjectives2020/overview.aspx?topicid=21
- Hood, L.J. & Leddy, S.K. (2006). Conceptual bases of professional nursing (6th ed.).

 Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott, Williams, & Wilkins.
- Hunt, S., Abraham, W. T., Chin, M. H., Feldman, A. M., Francis, G. S., Ganiats, T. G., & ... Yancy, C. W. (2009). 2009 Focused update incorporated into the ACC/AHA
 2005 guidelines for the diagnosis and management of heart failure in adults: A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart
 Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines: Developed in collaboration with the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation. *Circulation*, (14).
- Jencks, S., Williams, M., & Coleman, E. (2009). Rehospitalizations among patients in the Medicare fee-for-service program. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 360, doi: 10.1056/NEJMsa0803563.

- Jensen, G. (2011). Outcomes of heart failure discharge instructions. University of Iowa Online. Retrieved from:

 http://ir.uiowa.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3376&context=etd
- Kansagara, D., Englander, H., Salanitro, A., Kagen, D., Theobald, C., Freeman, M., &
 Kripalani, S. (2011). Risk prediction models for hospital readmission: A
 systematic review. *JAMA: Journal of the American Medical Association*, 306(15), 1688-1698. doi:10.1001/jama.2011.1515.
- Kay, D., Blue, A., Pye, P., Lacy, A., Gray, C., & Moore, S. (2006). Heart failure: improving the continuum of care [corrected] [published erratum appears in CARE MANAGE J 2006 winter;7(4):161]. Care Management Journals, 7(2), 58-63.
- Kelly, M. (2011). Self-management of chronic disease and hospital readmission: A care transition strategy. *Journal of Nursing & Healthcare of Chronic Illnesses*, *3*(1), 4-11.
- Kwan, J., Lo, L., Sampson, M., & Shojania, K. (2013). Medication reconciliation during transitions of care as a patient safety strategy: A systematic review. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 158(5 Pt 2), 397-403. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-158-5-201303051-00006.
- Leppin, A.L., Gionfriddo, M.R., Kessler, M., Brito, J.P, Mair, F.S., Gallacher, K., Wang, Z., Erwin, P.J., Sylvester, T., Boehmer, K., Ting, H.H., Murad, M.H., Shippee, N.D., Montori, V.M.. Preventing 30-Day Hospital Readmissions: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomized Trials. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2014;174(7):1095-1107. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.1608.

- Lewis, C. (2012). Heart failure nurses play a pivotal role in linking clinical research to clinical practice: Translational research. *Heart & Lung*, *41*(1), 4.
- Linden, A., Adams, J., & Roberts, N. (2005). Evaluating disease management program effectiveness: an introduction to the bootstrap technique. Disease Management & Health Outcomes, 13(3), 159-167.
- Manion, J. (2005). From management to leadership (2nd ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass
- McCauley, K., Bixby, M., & Naylor, M. (2006). Advanced practice nurse strategies to improve outcomes and reduce cost in elders with heart failure. *Disease*Management, 9(5), 302-310.
- Meleis, A., (2010). Transitions theory: Middle range and situation specific theories in nursing research and practice. pp. 52-65.
- Meleis, A., Sawyer, L., Im, E., Messias, D., & Schumacher, K. (2000). Experiencing transitions: an emerging middle-range theory. *Advances In Nursing Science*, 23(1), 12-28.
- Nash, D. B., Reifsnyder, J., Fabius, R. J., & Pracilio, V. P. (2011). *Population health:*Creating a culture of wellness. Sudbury, MA: Jones & Bartlett.
- Naylor, M., Aiken, L., Kurtzman, E., Olds, D. & Hirschman, K. (2011). The importance of transitional care in achieving health reform. Health Affairs, 30(4), pp. 746-754.
- Neff, D., Madigan, E., & Narsavage, G. (2003). APN-directed transitional home care model: Achieving positive outcomes for patients with COPD. Home Healthcare Nurse: The Journal for the Home Care and Hospice Professional, 21(8), pp: 543-550.

- Ng, C., Welch, S. A., Luddington, J., Bui, D., Glasson, E., & Richardson, K. L. (2013).

 Medication Reconciliation Challenges at Discharge from Hospital using an

 Electronic Medication Management System and Electronic Discharge Summaries. *Journal Of Pharmacy Practice & Research*, 43(1), 25-28.
- Norman, J. F., Pozehl, B. J., Duncan, K. A., Hertzog, M. A., & Krueger, S. K. (2012).

 Effects of exercise training versus attention on plasma B-type natriuretic peptide,
 6-minute walk test and quality of life in individuals with heart failure.

 Cardiopulmonary Physical Therapy Journal, 23(4), 19-25.
- Omar A.R., Suppiah N, Chai P, Chan YH, Seow YH, Quek LL, *et al.* (2007) Efficacy of community-based multidisciplinary disease management of chronic heart failure. *Singapore Med J*;48:528-31.
- Onwuegbuzie, A.J. (2007) Mixed methods research in sociology and beyond, In G. Ritzer (Ed.), *The Blackwell encyclopedia of sociology* (Vol. VI, pp. 2978-2981) Oxford, UK: Blackwell.
- Onwuegbuzie, A., & Leech, N. (2009). Conclusion: Lessons learned for teaching mixed research: A framework for novice researchers. International Journal of Multiple Research Approaches, *3*(1), 105-107.
- Otsu, H., & Moriyama, M. (2011). Effectiveness of an educational self-management program for outpatients with chronic heart failure. *Japan Journal of Nursing Science*, 8(2), 140-152.
- Orem, D. E. (2001). Nursing: Concepts of practice(6th ed.).St. Louis, MO: Mosby, Inc.

- Parker, M. E. (2006). *Nursing theories & nursing practice* (2nd ed.). Philadelphia, PA: F.A. Davis Company.
- Retooling for an aging America [electronic resource]: building the health care workforce

 / Committee on the Future Health Care Workforce for Older Americans, Board on

 Health Care Services, Institute of Medicine of the National Academies. (2008).

 Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press, c2008.
- Riegel, B., Jaarsma, T., & Stromberg, A. (2012). A middle-range theory of self –care of chronic illness. *ANS Advanced Nursing Science*. *35*(3), 194-204.
- Rosswurm, M. A., & Larrabee, J. H. (1999). A model for change to evidence-based practice. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 31(4), 317-322.
- Rush, S. (2012). Discharge Calls: How one call can make the difference for patients, families, and reimbursement. *Nurse Leader*, *10*(2), 45-52. doi:10.1016/j.mnl.2011.07.014.
- Slater, M., Phillips, D., & Woodard, E. (2008). Cost-effective care a phone call away: A nurse-managed telephonic program for patients with chronic heart failure.

 Nursing Economic\$, 26(1), 41-44.
- Snyderman, D., Salzman, B., Mills, G., Hersh, L., & Parks, S. (2014). Strategies to help reduce hospital readmissions. *Journal of Family Practice*, 63(8), 430-438a.
- Stauffer, BD; Fullerton, C; Fleming, N; Ogola, G; Herrin, J; Stafford, PM; Ballard, DJ., (2011). Effectiveness and cost of a transitional care program for Heart Failure: A prospective study with concurrent controls. *Arch Intern Med.* 2011;171(14):1238-1243.

- Studt, T. (2014). Translational Facilities Blend Research with Clinical Care. *Laboratory Equipment*, *51*(1), 8-11.
- Tendera, M. (2004). The epidemiology of heart failure. *Journal of the Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System*, 5(1), 52-56.
- Terry, A. J. (2012). *Clinical research for the doctor of nursing practice*. Sudbury, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Tyer-Viola, L., Nicholas, P. K., Corless, I. B., Barry, D. M., Hoyt, P., Fitzpatrick, J. J., & Davis, S. M. (2009). Social responsibility of nursing. *Policy, Politics & Nursing Practice*, *10*(2), 110-119.
- Unruh, M. A., Trivedi, A. N., Grabowski, D. C., & Mor, V. (2013). Does reducing length of stay increase rehospitalization of Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries discharged to Skilled Nursing Facilities?. *Journal of The American Geriatrics Society*, 61(9), 1443-1448.
- Voss, R., Gardner, R., Baier, R., Butterfield, K., Lehrman, S., & Gravenstein, S. (2011).

 The care transitions intervention: Translating from efficacy to effectiveness.

 Archives Of Internal Medicine, 171(14), 1232-1237.
- Walker, T. (2012). Take charge of medication reconciliation to reduce readmission rates. *Formulary*, 47(10), 343-347.
- Walsh, N. (2010). Dissemination of evidence into practice: Opportunities and threats. *Primary Health Care*, 20(3), 26–30.
- Warden, B. A., Freels, J., Furuno, J. P., & Mackay, J. (2014). Pharmacy-managed program for providing education and discharge instructions for patients with heart

- failure. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 71(2), 134-139. doi:10.2146/ajhp130103.
- Watson, J. (1999). *Nursing: Human science and human care: A theory of nursing* (No. 15). Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Willard, M. (2005) Post-discharge call programs improving satisfaction and safety.

 Retrieved from: http://www.psqh/com/mayjune-2010/519-post-dischrage-call-program-improving-satisfaction-and-safety.
- Yen, L., Gillespie, J., Rn, Y., Kljakovic, M., Anne Brien, .., Jan, S., & ... Usherwood, T.(2011). Health professionals, patients and chronic illness policy: A qualitative study. Health Expectations, 14(1), 10-20.
- Zaccagnini, M. E., & White, K. W. (2011). The doctor of nursing practice essentials: A new model for advanced practice nursing. Sudbury, MA: Jones & Bartlett Publishers.

Appendix A

Risk for Readmission Assessment and Intervention Checklist

Patient Label Here					
Risk for Readmission					
Score Possible/earned	Risk	Complete Com			
5 point	Readmit last 30 days	☐☐ Contact Case management			
1 point/	Problem medications (A1-C > 8.5%, anti-coagulation, high dose narcotics)	☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐☐			
1 point/	Psychiatric complications (acute psychiatric issues, history of mental health disorder or untreated mental health disorder that hinders self-care abilities.	Indicate need for psychiatric medication order Psychiatric consult Indicate need for psychiatric follow-up Social worker consult			
1 point or 5 pts. automatic	Principal diagnosis (Stroke, DM, CAP PNA, Cancer, COPD)	Stroke education with teach back RN complete Diabetes Survival Skills with teach back			

high risk for	Acute Heart failure ACUTE is		HF education with teach back
CHF/	score of 5.		□□ MD review core measure checklist
1 point/	Polypharmacy (>8 routine medications)		☐☐ Pharmacy consult
	medications		MD collaborate with pharmacist
			regarding ongoing
			prescriptions
1 point/	Poor health literacy (literacy		☐☐ Home health consult
	screening tool) How often do you		│
	need to have someone help you wh you read instructions, pamphlets or		and identify key learner
	other written material from your do		Ensure teach back with education
	or pharmacy?		
2 points/	Patient support (absence of		☐☐ SW consult explore options to
	caregiver to assist with discharge	e	increased pt support
	and home care)		
2 points/	Prior hospitalization (non-		□□ Review reasons for
	elective in the last 60 days.		rehospitalization in the context of
			prior hospitalization in
			interdisciplinary rounds
1 point/	Palliative care Need		□□ Palliative care consult
	Total score		
	Total score		
*High Risk for Readmission Universal			nment: *Must complete below
Interventions		inte	rventions by Discharge
☐ PCP verification		ш	Discharge AVS highlight reason pt in hospital,
☐ Established ☐ New ☐ Vasek Polak			MD appt, HHC, DME, Meds reviewed and reason taking meds. ie BP, Water pill, heart
			rhythm, etc.
Follow up appointment E days nost discharge			
Follow-up appointment 5 days post discharge			Outpatient Diabetes Program Referral faxed 543-7283

scheduled date time and	CM/Nurse schedule at 310-543-7281			
location				
☐ Home health order.☐ Medication filled Prior to discharge	 ☐ (Self-Pay) Vasek Polak Diabetes Goal Program CM Fax will facesheet ☐ Vasek Polak Medical Home information provided ☐ Med reconciliation complete by pharmacy ☐ CHF Support Group and Navigator information 			
Admission Nurse:	(Print) Discharge			
Nurse:				
This form is not a permanent part of the medical record. Form is kept case managers box				
when complete and on D/C.				